
 

Agenda - Public Accounts Committee 
Meeting Venue: 

Committee Room 3 - Senedd 

Meeting date: 12 November 2018 

Meeting time: 13.00

For further information contact: 

Fay Bowen 

Committee Clerk 

0300 200 6565  

SeneddPAC@assembly.wales
------ 

(The Committee agreed on 5 November 2018, a motion under 

Standing Order 17.42 to resolve to exclude the public from Items 1 & 

2 of this meeting)  

 

(Pre-Meeting)  

(13.00 - 13.15) 

1 Community Safety in Wales: Technical Briefing 

(13.15 - 14.30) (Pages 1 - 13)  

Research Briefing 

 

Reg Kilpatrick -  Director for Local Government, Welsh Government 

Alun Michael – South Wales Police & Crime Commissioner 

Stephen Carr, Safer Communities Programme Manager, Welsh Local 

Government Association 

Martin Swain, Deputy Director, Community Safety Division, Welsh 

Government 

Mark Price, Welsh Government Safer Communities Programme Co-Ordinator 

2 Auditor General for Wales Report: National Fraud Initiative 2016-

18 

(14.30 - 15.00) (Pages 14 - 49)  

Research Briefing 

PAC(5)-30-18 Paper 1 – Auditor General for Wales Report: National Fraud 

Initiative 2016-18 

------------------------ Public Document Pack ------------------------



3 Introductions, apologies, substitutions and declarations of 

interest 

(15.00)   

4 Paper(s) to note 

(15.00 - 15.05) (Pages 50 - 52)  

5 Implementation of the NHS Finance (Wales) Act 2014: Letter from 

the Welsh Government (31 October 2018) 

(15.05 - 15.30) (Pages 53 - 58)  

PAC(5)-30-18 Paper 2 – Letter from the Welsh Government 



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 1

Agenda Item 1By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 15

Agenda Item 2By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42



National Fraud Initiative in 
Wales
Report 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2018

October 2018

Archwilydd Cyffredinol Cymru
Auditor General for Wales

Y Pwyllgor Cyfrifon Cyhoeddus / Public Accounts Committee

PAC(5)-30-18 P1

Pack Page 20



National Fraud Initiative in Wales – Report 1 April 2016 to 31 March 20182

This report summarises the findings of the biennial National Fraud Initiative in Wales for the 
period 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2018 I have prepared this report for presentation to the 

National Assembly under the Public Audit (Wales) Act 2004.

Members of the Wales Audit Office staff who assisted me in preparing this report comprised 
Steven O’ Donoghue and David Rees.

Adrian Crompton
Auditor General for Wales

Wales Audit Office
24 Cathedral Road

Cardiff
CF11 9LJ

The Auditor General is independent of the National Assembly and government. He examines 
and certifies the accounts of the Welsh Government and its sponsored and related public bodies, 
including NHS bodies. He also has the power to report to the National Assembly on the economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness with which those organisations have used, and may improve the use of, 
their resources in discharging their functions.

The Auditor General also audits local government bodies in Wales, conducts local government 
value for money studies and inspects for compliance with the requirements of the Local Government 
(Wales) Measure 2009. 

The Auditor General undertakes his work using staff and other resources provided by the Wales Audit 
Office, which is a statutory board established for that purpose and to monitor and advise the Auditor 
General. 

© Auditor General for Wales 2018

You may re-use this publication (not including logos) free of charge in any format or medium. If 
you re-use it, your re-use must be accurate and must not be in a misleading context. The material 
must be acknowledged as Auditor General for Wales copyright and you must give the title of this 
publication. Where we have identified any third party copyright material you will need to obtain 
permission from the copyright holders concerned before re-use.

For further information, or if you require any of our publications in an alternative format and/
or language, please contact us by telephone on 029 2032 0500, or email info@audit.wales. We 
welcome telephone calls in Welsh and English. You can also write to us in either Welsh or English 
and we will respond in the language you have used. Corresponding in Welsh will not lead to a delay.

Mae’r ddogfen hon hefyd ar gael yn Gymraeg.

Pack Page 21



National Fraud Initiative in Wales – Report 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2018 3
Pack Page 22



National Fraud Initiative in Wales – Report 1 April 2016 to 31 March 20184

Contents
 Foreword 6

 Summary 7

 The latest National Fraud Initiative has made a significant  
contribution to tackling fraud against Welsh public bodies 8

The latest biennial NFI exercise in Wales has detected and  
prevented £5.4 million in fraud and overpayments 8

NFI matching has helped to identify cases of fraud and  
overpayments in a wide range of areas  11

NFI has been successful in identifying housing-benefit fraud and 
overpayments 13

NFI matching between council tax single-persons-discounts  
data and the electoral register has achieved savings to the  
public purse of £1.5 million 18

A new NFI data match between claimants receiving Council  
Tax Reduction and other NFI datasets identified 54 cases  
where discount was being overclaimed 19

NFI matching of creditor-payment data has helped to identify  
61 cases of creditor overpayments 20

Review of the NFI matches has led to 1,690 blue badges and  
28,584 concessionary travel passes being cancelled 21

The NFI data matches of local-authority payments for residential  
care have identified a small number of high value cases where 
 local authorities have been charged for residential care costs  
after the death of a resident 23

Pack Page 23



National Fraud Initiative in Wales – Report 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2018 5

A new NFI data match designed to prevent housing waiting list  
fraud was successful and has resulted in 52 applicants ineligible  
to be housed being removed from housing waiting lists 24

Most Welsh public-sector bodies participating in the NFI were  
proactive in reviewing the data matches but a small number of  
participants did not review the matches in a timely or effective  
manner 25

The Auditor General, with the support of the National Assembly  
for Wales is continuing to develop the National Fraud Initiative  
to ensure it remains effective 25

 Appendix 1 – How the NFI works 28

 Appendix 2 – NFI governance arrangements 29

Pack Page 24



National Fraud Initiative in Wales – Report 1 April 2016 to 31 March 20186

It has been 10 years since the global financial crisis 
caused shockwaves across political, economic and 
social structures and the impact of that crisis is still 
being felt today. Public bodies across the UK have 
had to deal with unprecedented funding cuts and 
are having to meet ever-increasing demand for 
public services whilst experiencing year on year 
budget cuts. Within this context it is encouraging to 
see how Welsh public bodies are adopting new and 
innovative ways of working to ensure that service 
users are insulated from the impact of funding 
cuts and in some cases service provision is being 
improved.

Whilst Welsh public bodies need to continue to explore new ways of working, 
it is essential that they continue to ensure that services and benefits are only 
provided to those eligible to receive them. Sadly, there are those who attempt 
to commit fraud to obtain public service and benefits they are not entitled to. In 
June 2013, the National Fraud Authority estimated that the annual loss to fraud 
against the public sector in the UK amounted to £662 million (excluding tax 
fraud). Every pound lost to fraud is a pound wasted and reducing the funding 
available to those who need public services most. It is therefore crucial that 
public bodies use all the tools at their disposal to prevent and detect fraud.

I am delighted to be able to support Welsh public bodies as they combat fraud 
by providing them with the biennial National Fraud Initiative (NFI). NFI is a 
highly effective data-matching tool which enables organisations to identify 
and investigate data anomalies that may be due to fraud. Since its inception 
in 1996, the NFI has been used to identify more than £35 million of fraud and 
overpayments against the Welsh public sector. 

The findings of the latest exercise which are set out in this report show that £5.4 
million of fraud and overpayments were identified (compared to £4.4 million in 
the previous exercise). This represents continued success of the initiative, and 
I would like to thank those members of staff across the Welsh public sector 
for their diligence in investigating the data-matches. Without their efforts this 
success would not have been possible. 

I am continuing to implement a strategy for widening participation and usage 
of the NFI in Wales and encourage all public sector organisations to come 
forward with proposals for further potential data matches that could help in the 
prevention and detection of fraud. 

Adrian Crompton
Auditor General for Wales

Foreword

Pack Page 25



National Fraud Initiative in Wales – Report 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2018 7

Summary

1 Public bodies in Wales spend many billions of pounds of taxpayers’ 
money in providing benefits and services to address the social needs of 
the people of Wales. In most cases, the recipients of these benefits and 
services are entitled to them and they can make a considerable difference 
to improving quality of life.

2 When fraudsters claim from public bodies for services and benefits they 
are not entitled to, it means that individuals in genuine need may have to 
wait longer for services, treatment or help. Fraud is not a victimless crime.

3 In order to support Welsh public bodies in their fight against fraud, the 
Auditor General runs the NFI in Wales on a biennial basis. The NFI 
matches data across organisations and systems to help public bodies 
identify potentially fraudulent or erroneous claims and transactions. 

4 The current NFI exercise has been one of the most successful to date 
and has already resulted in the identification of £5.4 million of fraud and 
overpayments in Wales, and £301 million across the UK. This report 
includes a number of case studies which highlight the excellent work that 
participating are doing to drive out fraud in public services.

5 These outcomes could not have been achieved without the hard work 
of many members of staff within participating bodies who have shown 
commitment to reviewing and investigating the data-matches. 

6 We are grateful for the support of the National Assembly for Wales in 
providing the Wales Audit Office with the funding necessary to enable NFI 
to be provided to participating bodies without charge.

7 As part of the next exercise, the Auditor General’s auditors will continue 
to work with participating bodies to help them to maximise the potential 
benefit that can be achieved through NFI.

8 The Auditor General is committed to supporting public bodies in their 
efforts to prevent and detect fraud by applying data-matching techniques 
into fraud risk areas not currently within NFI. During 2017-18, the Auditor 
General has been working in partnership with the Welsh Government, 
DWP, Cabinet Office and HMRC to develop pilot data-matching exercises 
to help prevent and detect fraud in education and housing provision. The 
early results from these pilot exercises are proving very positive and the 
outcomes will be reported once the pilots have been fully evaluated.

Pack Page 26



National Fraud Initiative in Wales – Report 1 April 2016 to 31 March 20188

The latest National Fraud Initiative has made a 
significant contribution to tackling fraud against 
Welsh public bodies
The latest biennial NFI exercise in Wales has detected and 
prevented £5.4 million in fraud and overpayments
1 When fraudsters claim for services and benefits they are not entitled to, 

it means that individuals in genuine need may have to wait longer for 
services, treatments or help. Fraud is not a victimless crime.

2 In order to support Welsh public bodies in their fight against fraud, the 
Auditor General runs the NFI in Wales on a biennial basis. The NFI 
matches data across organisations and systems to help public bodies 
identify potentially fraudulent or erroneous claims and transactions.  
Exhibit 1 sets out some of the data matches that are run through the NFI 
and the types of issues which may be found.

Exhibit 1: examples of the types of issue that the NFI has uncovered

Datasets matched Issues uncovered

Housing benefit to housing-benefit claims Individuals who are claiming housing benefit 
at more than one property.

Housing benefit, housing rent and payroll 
records to immigration data1

Individuals employed or in receipt of public 
benefits who have no entitlement to live or 
work in the UK.

Council tax single person discount (CTSPD) 
to electoral register

Individuals falsely claiming to be the sole 
adult occupant of a property in order to 
receive a 25 per cent discount on their 
council tax bill.

Payments to residential care home to 
deceased persons’ records.

Ongoing payments to residential care home 
residents after the resident has died.

Creditor payments to creditor payments Public bodies have paid twice for the same 
goods or service following the receipt of 
duplicate invoices.

Blue-badge holder records to deceased 
persons’ records.

Improper use of blue badges, where 
a permit holder has died, but the local 
authority has not have been notified.

1 This includes data about refused and expired visas, visas where there is no right to work and 
failed asylum applications.

Pack Page 27



National Fraud Initiative in Wales – Report 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2018 9

3 The Auditor General collaborates on the NFI with the Cabinet Office, 
Audit Scotland and the Northern Ireland Audit Office to match data across 
1,300 organisations in England, Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland. 
This includes joint development of new data matching modules, sharing 
data processing arrangements and sharing resources such as staff and 
technical guidance. Further information on the NFI and how it works is 
provided in Appendix 1.

4 Since its commencement in 1996, NFI exercises have identified over £35 
million of fraud and overpayments in Wales, and £1.69 billion across the 
UK. Reported overpayments include sums of money that have already 
been paid out and forward projections, where it is reasonable to assume 
that fraud, overpayments and error would have continued undetected 
without NFI data matching.

5 The most recent exercise covers the period 1 April 2016 to 31 March 
2018 Forty-seven Welsh public sector bodies participated in the latest NFI 
exercise. These included the following mandatory participants:

• Local authorities

• Police authorities

• Fire authorities

• NHS bodies

6 The Welsh Government, some Welsh Government Sponsored bodies and 
the Wales Audit Office participated in the NFI on a voluntary basis. The 
payroll details of the vast majority of public sector staff and their external 
auditors are included within NFI for data matching to detect and prevent 
fraud. 

7 The majority of data matches for this latest NFI exercise were provided to 
public bodies in January 2017. Since then, most of the matches have been 
reviewed by participating bodies and, where appropriate, investigations 
undertaken. 

8 Between July 2014 and March 2016, responsibility for investigating 
potential housing-benefit frauds transferred from local authorities to the 
Department of Work and Pensions Fraud and Error Services (DWP FES). 
As a consequence, for the NFI exercise to which this report relates, DWP 
FES was responsible for investigating NFI housing-benefit data-matches 
considered to be possible frauds.

Pack Page 28



National Fraud Initiative in Wales – Report 1 April 2016 to 31 March 201810

9 The latest exercise detected and prevented fraud and overpayments 
against public bodies in Wales of over £5.4 million, compared to £4.4 
million in the previous exercise. Exhibit 2 demonstrates how the value 
of savings identified in Wales through the NFI has changed since the 
exercise started in 1996.

Exhibit 2: NFI reported savings in Wales in £ millions

Source: NFI database

£m

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

16/1714/1512/1310/1108/0906/0704/0502/0300/0198/9996/97

Pack Page 29



National Fraud Initiative in Wales – Report 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2018 11

NFI matching has helped to identify cases of fraud and 
overpayments in a wide range of areas 
10 When the NFI began in 1996, the main thrust of the NFI was to match 

data to identify fraud and overpayments in what were considered high-risk 
areas, in particular:

• Student awards

• Housing benefits

• Public sector payroll

• Public sector pensions

11 Over many years, data matching in these areas has led to the identification 
of high-value fraud and overpayments, including many longstanding 
frauds. In particular, longstanding pension payments made in the name 
of deceased pensioners have been stopped. The latest NFI exercise has 
found that these traditional data matches are still proving to be an effective 
tool in the detection of fraud and overpayments, and continue to detect 
frauds. The value of individual frauds in these areas tends to be lower 
because most longstanding frauds have been eliminated.

12 Since the first NFI exercise many new modules have been introduced 
which have provided the opportunity for participating organisations to 
identify fraud and overpayments in other areas, such as creditor payments 
and Council Tax Single Person Discount claims (CTSPD). The highest-
value areas of fraud and overpayments detected and prevented as part of 
the latest NFI exercise were CTSPD (£1.47 million) and pensions (£0.97 
million). 

13 As shown in Exhibit 3, the value of fraud and overpayments identified in 
‘other areas’ significantly increased in the latest exercise. This is largely 
due to the introduction of new data sets in recent exercises such as ‘blue 
badge’ parking permits and council tax reduction (CTR) claims. When NFI 
data-matching is introduced in new areas, it has the potential to make a 
significant financial impact in addressing long-standing fraud. 

Pack Page 30



National Fraud Initiative in Wales – Report 1 April 2016 to 31 March 201812

Exhibit 3: Overpayments and related future savings identified though NFI 
2016-17 compared with NFI 2014-15, 2012-13 and NFI 2010-11

Source: NFI database

2012 - 13 2014 - 15 2016 - 17

0.0

0.5

1.0

1.5

2.0

2.5

3.0

Other
areas

CreditorsPayrollHousingCouncil
Tax Single

Person
Discount

PensionsHousing
Benefit

£m

14 When NFI first matched public-sector pensions in payment to deceased 
persons’ records, it found significant numbers of pensions still being paid 
after a pensioner’s death. The cancellation of these payments resulted 
in significant savings to the public purse. Over time, NFI has helped to 
largely eliminate this type of fraud and it is now relatively unusual for NFI 
to identify pensions in payment after a pensioner’s death.

15 In 2008-09, NFI started matching CTSPD to the electoral register for the 
first time. Since then, fraud and overpayments of CTSPD amounting to 
£9.19 million have been detected and prevented. In the latest exercise, 
£1.47 million of fraud and overpayments were detected. This compared 
to £2.14 million in the previous exercise. We anticipate that this trend 
will continue in future exercises as longstanding frauds in this area are 
eliminated. 

Pack Page 31



National Fraud Initiative in Wales – Report 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2018 13

NFI has been successful in identifying housing-benefit fraud 
and overpayments
16 The NFI matches housing-benefit records to a number of datasets to 

identify fraudulent or erroneous claims. The detection and recovery of 
housing-benefit fraud and overpayments have traditionally been one of the 
most successful areas within the NFI. 

17 Investigating housing-benefit fraud often helps identify other 
overpayments. People that are in receipt of housing benefit may also 
be in receipt of other benefits and payments, such as council tax benefit 
,income support, or universal credit . The most common benefit frauds and 
errors detected through NFI are caused by applicants failing to declare 
occupational pensions or employment earnings, and students claiming 
housing benefit when not entitled to do so. 

18 Between July 2014 and March 2016, responsibility for investigating 
housing-benefit fraud transferred from Welsh local authorities to DWP 
FES. The transfer was on a phased basis.

19 The latest NFI exercise identified £0.64 million of housing-benefit 
overpayments. This compares to £1.6 million in 2010-11, £1.37 million in 
2012-13 and £1.14 million in 2014-15. The decline in benefits outcomes 
achieved through NFI is not unique to Wales and a similar trend is in 
evidence across the UK. This may be due to the following reasons:

• the transfer of responsibility for investigating benefit fraud from councils 
to the DWP’s FES has resulted in local-authority investigators now 
concentrating on other areas.

• the DWP is now using real-time information (RTI) on payroll and 
pension to help prevent benefit overpayments occurring.

• the DWP only investigates potential frauds of a significant value.

• efforts by public bodies to continuously improve housing benefit 
systems. Councils are also participating in DWP schemes such as 
the Right Benefit Initiative from April 2017, which aims to identify and 
reduce housing-benefit fraud and error.

20 Whilst the overall housing-benefit savings outcomes have reduced, the 
latest exercise identified 169 cases of benefit fraud or overpayments. Each 
case had an average value of £3,781. This indicates that NFI participants 
are effectively targeting high-value and high-risk benefit matches. 

Pack Page 32



National Fraud Initiative in Wales – Report 1 April 2016 to 31 March 201814

NFI helped to find housing-benefit claimants who had not fully 
disclosed employment or pension income 

21 As housing benefit is means-tested, claimants are required to disclose 
to the local authority any pay and/or pension income they receive and 
to notify the local authority if their income changes. Claimants are also 
required to disclose the pay and/or pension of any non-dependants they 
live with. Failure to fully disclose income is likely to result in housing 
benefit being overpaid and can be fraudulent.

Case Study 1

Pembrokeshire County Council reviewed NFI data-matches between 
payroll and housing benefit. In one instance the Council found that a Council 
employee in receipt of housing benefit had failed to disclose that their pay 
had increased. Salary details were obtained from the Payroll department 
and further review of the claim identified that the individual had received 
housing benefit of £2,760.00 to which they were not entitled. The Council is 
recovering the over claimed benefit.

Case Study 2

Gwynedd Council investigated an NFI match between housing benefits 
and payroll that indicated that a housing-benefit claimant had employment 
income from a local health board that had not been disclosed on their 
claim for housing benefit. The Council followed up the match by seeking 
further information from the claimant and HMRC. The Council found that 
the claimant had overclaimed housing benefit amounting to £3,472.17. The 
Council also referred the case to the DWP which resulted in the housing-
benefit claim being terminated. 

Pack Page 33



National Fraud Initiative in Wales – Report 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2018 15

Case Study 3

Cardiff Council when reviewing NFI matches between housing benefit and 
occupational pension income identified that ta benefit claimant was in receipt 
of a teacher’s pension from another Welsh local authority and that she 
had not declared this when claiming housing benefit. The Council sought 
and obtained confirmation of the pension income from HMRC via RTI and 
was able to use this information to update the claim and calculate that the 
claimant had falsely claimed £3,180.25. The case was referred to the DWP, 
and following investigation, the claimant also accepted an administrative 
penalty of £1,590.13.

Case Study 4

Torfaen County Borough Council investigated an NFI match that indicated 
that a housing-benefit claimant was in receipt of an occupational pension, 
that not been declared as part of the housing-benefit claim. The claimant 
was also claiming a reduction of Council Tax on the basis of low income. The 
claimant was of an advanced age and therefore the Council sought evidence 
from the claimant’s daughter as to the amount of pension the pensioner 
was receiving. The information received from the daughter was inconsistent 
with the information shown by the NFI match. The Council therefore sought 
independent confirmation of the pension payments from the pension 
provider. This confirmed that the amount notified by the claimant’s daughter 
was significantly understated. The Council concluded that the housing-
benefit claim had been false from the outset, resulting in housing benefit of 
£7,201 and CTR of £1,810 being overclaimed. 

Case Study 5

Pembrokeshire County Council reviewed NFI data matches between taxi 
licensing and housing benefit. One case reviewed identified a number of 
non-declared changes, including an increase in earnings, self-employed 
earnings as a taxi driver and a dependant of the claimant commencing work. 
As a result, the claimant had received housing benefit of £2,972 that they 
were not entitled to and no longer qualified for any benefit. The overpayment 
is being repaid to the Council.

Pack Page 34



National Fraud Initiative in Wales – Report 1 April 2016 to 31 March 201816

Case Study 6

Cardiff Council reviewed NFI matches between Housing Benefit and 
Immigration status. In one instance, having sought further information from 
the Home Office, the Council confirmed that the housing benefit claimant 
had no leave to remain in the UK and therefore had no entitlement to 
receive housing benefit. The Council calculated that the claimant had 
received an overpayment of £6,854 and suspended the claim. The individual 
subsequently won an immigration tribunal case which reinstated her 
entitlement to benefit, and the Council was able to recover the overpayment 
in full from future benefit payments.

NFI was used to identify housing-benefit claimants who had no right 
to work or stay in the UK

22 As NFI data-matches housing-benefit claimants against Home Office 
immigration and visa records. Individuals who do not have, or have not 
been granted, a right to reside or work in the UK are ineligible to receive 
housing benefit.

NFI helped to identify students claiming housing benefit when not 
entitled to do so

23 Most students in receipt of a student loan are ineligible to claim housing 
benefit. The NFI exercise matched student-loan data to housing-benefit 
records to identify potentially fraudulent or erroneous housing-benefit 
payments. Following a review of the matched data, local authorities in 
Wales identified a significant number of cases where it was suspected that 
students had claimed housing benefit when ineligible to do so. Many of 
these cases were referred to DWP FES for investigation.

Case Study 7

Cardiff Council reviewed NFI matches between Housing Benefit and 
Student Finance. This review confirmed that a number of students in 
receipt of student finance had failed to declare that they were in receipt of 
student finance whilst claiming housing benefit. The Council contacted the 
individuals concerned to confirm the details in the NFI matches and this 
led to 26 cases of entitlement to housing benefit being reassessed and 
overclaims calculated. The overclaims are being recovered by the Council. 
One case was referred to the DWP for investigation and in that case an 
overpayment of £7,974 was identified, and the claimant also accepted an 
administrative penalty of £2,000.

Pack Page 35



National Fraud Initiative in Wales – Report 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2018 17

The NFI pension matches have successfully helped to eliminate 
many longstanding pension frauds and overpayments but a small 
number of new cases are still being identified

24 The NFI matches occupational pensions in payment to deceased people 
to identify instances where pensions were still being paid after a pensioner 
had died. 

25 When this NFI data match was first introduced as part of NFI 2004-05, 
it identified many cases where pensions were still in payment several 
years after the pensioner had died. As a consequence, significant pension 
overpayments had been made. Since then, through the investigation of 
the NFI matches, public bodies in Wales have been able to eliminate 
many of these longstanding cases. Whilst NFI continues to identify new 
cases where pensions have continued after the date of death, the average 
overpayment is significantly less. This demonstrates the effectiveness of 
NFI in reducing levels of fraud and error.

Case Study 8

The City and County of Swansea reviewed matches between persons in 
receipt of occupational pensions paid by the Council and DWP records of 
deceased persons. Checks were undertaken to confirm that the matched 
parties were the same. Where this was the case, further checks were 
undertaken to confirm that the pension was still in payment and whether 
pension records had been updated to record that the pensioner had died. 
Where pensions were still in payment after the date of death, payments 
were suspended, and attempts made to trace the next of kin. Eligibility 
forms were also sent out as a means of determining continued eligibility. 
As a consequence of the review, 26 cases were identified where incorrect 
pension payments were being made, and the Council is seeking to recover 
the overpayments. In one case, the pension overpayment amounted 
to £10,058. A further 11 pensions remain suspended, pending ongoing 
investigations to trace next of kin. 

Pack Page 36



National Fraud Initiative in Wales – Report 1 April 2016 to 31 March 201818

NFI matching between council tax single-persons-discounts 
data and the electoral register has achieved savings to the 
public purse of £1.5 million
26 Council-tax payers are eligible for a discount on their bill where they are 

the only occupant of a household aged over 18, or the other occupants of 
the household fall into exempted categories, for instance, students. The 
discount results in a reduction of 25% of the full council-tax bill payable 
on the property. This discount is commonly referred to as the Council Tax 
Single Persons Discount (CTSPD).

27 In many cases, CTSPD claimants were eligible on application but failed to 
declare subsequent changes in their personal circumstances. The effort 
of local authorities to establish the dates of changes in circumstances has 
enabled local authorities to recover previous years’ ineligible discounts 
rather than just stopping the discount going forward.

28 Local authorities are recovering the amount overclaimed in 89% of 
cases. Furthermore, local authorities have found that some individuals, 
who inappropriately claimed the discount, also claimed other benefits 
inappropriately.

29 Whilst some Welsh local authorities have been very proactive in reviewing 
and where necessary cancelling inappropriate claims for CTSPD, others 
have not invested sufficient resources to address the matches. This is 
regrettable, because those authorities which have adopted a rigorous 
approach have achieved savings of £1.5 million by investigating the 
matches. Case studies 9 and 10 provide two examples of authorities which 
have been very proactive in this area.

Case Study 9

Bridgend County Borough Council reviewed and investigated NFI 
matches showing individuals in receipt of CTSPD, where the electoral 
register showed that more than one individual was registered to vote at 
the property in question. As a result , 435 claims were identified where 
claimants were not or were no longer entitled to a discount. The amount 
overclaimed amounted to £245,175 of which £89,931 is being recovered. 
The cancellation of these claims has also increased the council-tax revenue 
being collected going forward.

Pack Page 37



National Fraud Initiative in Wales – Report 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2018 19

A new NFI data match between claimants receiving Council 
Tax Reduction and other NFI datasets identified 54 cases 
where discount was being overclaimed
30 Each council in Wales operates its own Council Tax Reduction (CTR) 

scheme. The CTR scheme helps people on low incomes and/or certain 
welfare benefits to pay their council tax bill. CTR replaced the national 
council tax benefit scheme with effect from 1 April 2013.

31 As CTR is an income-based discount, where applicants fail to declare 
their full income, they receive discounts on their Council Tax they are not 
entitled to. The latest NFI exercise matched CTR and other NFI datasets 
for the first time. The new data match proved successful, identifying 54 
cases in Wales where CTR was being overclaimed. In many of these 
cases, it was found that the individual was also overclaiming other  
means-tested benefits.

Case Study 10

Pembrokeshire County Council carried out a review of NFI data matches 
between those in receipt of council tax discounts where single person 
discount had been awarded against details held on the electoral register 
where there was more than one person registered to vote. Household details 
were cross checked against internal records, verification checks with other 
local authorities and by contacting the taxpayer directly. As a result of this 
review, 247 single person discounts were cancelled and the full council-tax 
charge applied. The Council is recovering £19,550 of underpaid council tax. 

Case Study 11

Gwynedd Council investigated an NFI match between Payroll and CTR. 
The evidence held on the Housing Benefit/CTR file showed that the claimant 
had declared that they were living with a non-dependant who was working 
part time. However, after reviewing the NFI match and making further 
enquiries, the Council confirmed that the non-dependant had changed 
employment in October 2015 and was working full time. The claimant had 
not notified the Council of this change. The Council calculated that the 
claimant had overclaimed CTR of £434 and also found that Housing Benefit 
of £5,794 had also been illegitimately claimed. The claimant accepted an 
administrative penalty of £2,420. The Council is currently recovering the 
overpayments through deductions from benefit payments. 

Pack Page 38



National Fraud Initiative in Wales – Report 1 April 2016 to 31 March 201820

Case Study 12

Conwy County Borough Council investigated an NFI match that indicated 
that a claimant in receipt of full CTR for a property in the Council’s area 
was also in receipt of Housing Benefit and CTR at an address in England. 
Enquiries made with the other Council in England confirmed that the 
claimant was resident at a housing association property in that Council’s 
area and was receiving Housing Benefit and CTR from it. The English 
Council had not been informed that the claimant owned a property in Wales 
and was therefore not entitled to be paid Housing Benefit or CTR in England. 
Further checks made of the Land Registry confirmed that the claimant still 
owned the property in Wales. The Welsh CTR claim was cancelled back 
to May 2010 and an overpayment of £6,399 calculated. Recovery action is 
ongoing.

NFI matching of creditor-payment data has helped to 
identify 61 cases of creditor overpayments
32 The creditor-payment data match is designed to help public bodies identify 

problems such as duplicate invoices or incorrect VAT rates. It also enables 
public bodies to highlight system deficiencies which could make them 
susceptible to fraud or error. 

33 The latest NFI exercise identified 61 cases where overpayments had been 
made and in 60 cases these payments have or are being recovered. 

Case Study 13

Caerphilly County Borough Council investigated an NFI match that 
showed that an individual who in April 2016 had started claiming CTR and 
CTSPD and housing benefit, had since September 2016 been living with a 
Council employee at the property to which the claims related. The claimant 
had not notified the Council of his change in circumstances and had not 
declared the Council employee’s income for benefit assessment purposes. 
The Council referred the case to the DWP as a potential fraud. When the 
DWP contacted the claimant, he admitted that he was in a relationship 
with the Council employee and that they had jointly contrived the tenancy 
in order to falsely claim housing benefit and CTR. The Council cancelled 
the CTR, CTSPD and housing benefit claims and are recovering £5,309 
in overclaimed housing benefit and £1,212 CTR. The Council commenced 
disciplinary action against the employee and her employment has now been 
terminated. 

Pack Page 39



National Fraud Initiative in Wales – Report 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2018 21

Case Study 14

Caerphilly County Borough Council undertook a review of creditor-
payment matches to identify and investigate potential duplicates. A number 
of duplicates were identified which had already been recovered by means 
of supplier credits or refunds but a number of unrecovered duplicates were 
also identified through this exercise. Thirty-seven unrecovered duplicated 
payments were identified with a total value of £60,534. The Council has 
recovered, or is seeking to recover, all the duplicate payments identified and 
is continuing to review its systems and procedures to prevent overpayments 
in the future. 

Review of the NFI matches has led to 1,690 blue badges 
and 28,584 concessionary travel passes being cancelled
34 The NFI matches blue badges and concessionary travel permits to 

deceased persons’ records. The match is designed to identify badges 
and permits which are potentially still in circulation after the death of the 
registered owner. Blue-badge records are also matched to identify cases 
where blue-badge holders have been issued with badges by more than 
one local authority. 

35 Blue badges provide a range of parking concessions and are a lifeline 
for people with severe mobility problems. However, it is essential that the 
badges are cancelled when the holder dies. Failure to do so can lead to 
badges being used by those who have no entitlement.

36 It is a criminal offence to display a blue badge for the purposes of evading 
parking charges or to obtain preferential parking when the car driver 
or passenger is not the legitimate owner of the badge. This does not 
stop fraudsters targeting the scheme, and blue badges may be sold for 
considerable sums of money. The fraud not only results in a loss of parking 
revenues for the local authority, but it also means that parking spaces may 
be denied to genuine blue-badge holders.

37 This year, the match has led to the cancellation of 1,690 blue badges 
across Wales, compared to 1,044 in the previous NFI exercise. Once the 
badges have been cancelled, it is possible for local authorities to check 
whether the cancelled badges are being fraudulently displayed.

Pack Page 40



National Fraud Initiative in Wales – Report 1 April 2016 to 31 March 201822

Case Study 15

One local authority received a number of NFI matches between blue-
badge holders and deceased persons. Having reviewed these matches the 
Council was able to confirm in 281 cases that the blue-badge holder had 
died but the Council had not been notified. The blue badges were cancelled 
and the Council’s records updated.

38 The Welsh concessionary travel passes scheme entitles all those aged 
60 and over and people with disabilities to free bus travel across Wales. 
Where owners of concessionary travel passes have died or have moved 
to a different local-authority area, this is not always reported to the local 
authority and the pass may remain in circulation. This provides the 
opportunity for fraudsters to avoid travel costs. In previous NFI exercises, 
NFI data matches in respect of concessionary travel passes were provided 
to Welsh local authorities for review and investigation. Not all local 
authorities effectively reviewed these matches. In the latest exercise, the 
Welsh Government agreed to review the data matches on an all-Wales 
basis. As a result of work undertaken by the Welsh Government, 28,584 
concessionary passes were cancelled. In a number of cases, cancelled 
passes had been in circulation several years after the holder had died.

Case Study 16

The Welsh Government checked NFI matches between concessionary 
travel pass holders and deceased persons records on an all-Wales basis. 
Where the Welsh Government was able to confirm that both sides of the 
match related to the same person, it cancelled the passes which related to 
deceased persons. This ensured that the passes in question could not be 
used fraudulently by third parties. In addition, as the Welsh Government 
pays an annual charge for each pass in circulation, it was able to achieve an 
£84,000 a year saving in administration costs. 

Pack Page 41



National Fraud Initiative in Wales – Report 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2018 23

The NFI data matches of local-authority payments for 
residential care have identified a small number of high 
value cases where local authorities have been charged for 
residential care costs after the death of a resident
39 Dependent upon circumstances, local authorities may contribute to the 

cost of care for residents of private residential homes. The NFI matches 
local-authority payments for residential care to deceased persons. If 
payments continue to be made after a resident’s death, very substantial 
overpayments can accrue.

Case Study 17

Conwy County Borough Council investigated an NFI match that indicated 
that the Council was still making payments to a private residential care home 
in respect of a resident who had passed away. On receipt of the NFI match 
in January 2017, the Council contacted the care home to verify the date of 
death. The care home confirmed that the resident had died in November 
2016. The Council had not been informed of the death by the care home and 
therefore the Council had continued to make care payments in respect of the 
resident. As a consequence, the care home had overclaimed £3,859 from 
the Council. The Council has recovered the overpayment if full from the care 
home.

Case Study 18

Newport City Council carried out a detailed review of Council payments to 
private residential homes for placed residents and DWP records of deceased 
persons. The matching process enabled Council officers to identify that care 
fees of £68,194 had been made to a care home in respect of a resident 
who had died. A detailed review by the Council found that neither the Local 
Health Board nor the care home had notified the Council that the resident 
had been awarded Continuing Healthcare Funding and had subsequently 
passed away. Following this discovery, the Commissioning and Contracts 
team undertook a review of reporting procedures and the Council was able 
to successfully recover the fees in full. 

Pack Page 42



National Fraud Initiative in Wales – Report 1 April 2016 to 31 March 201824

A new NFI data match designed to prevent housing waiting 
list fraud was successful and has resulted in 52 applicants 
ineligible to be housed being removed from housing waiting 
lists
40 There is a scarcity of social housing stock available to provide 

accommodation to those who need housing. The demand for social 
housing is increasing and most providers of social housing have long 
waiting lists. It is essential that social housing is only provided to those 
entitled to be housed. When individuals apply for housing that they have 
no entitlement to, or they fail to notify the housing provider that their 
circumstances have changed, it can lead to tenancies being granted to 
those who do not qualify for them and delays in housing those who are 
entitled. 

41 In the previous NFI exercise, a pilot exercise was run at a small number 
of local authorities to match housing waiting lists against other NFI data-
sets including existing housing tenancies, housing-benefit claimants, 
immigration data and deceased persons. The purpose of the matching 
was to identify examples where fraudulent applications had been made, or 
where personal circumstances had changed, meaning that individuals on 
waiting lists no longer qualified to be housed. 

42 The exercise was successful and the Auditor General decided to extend 
this match to all Welsh local authorities in the latest exercise. This resulted 
in 52 applicants ineligible to be housed being removed from Welsh local 
authority housing waiting lists. 

Case Study 19 

The City and County of Swansea investigated the waiting list matches it 
received. After confirming the match parties were the same, checks were 
undertaken to confirm that the matched party was still on the housing waiting 
list. The NFI data enabled the Council to check its records and confirm 
whether the Council’s records needed updating or whether a dual/fraudulent 
claim for housing had been made. As a result of the work undertaken, the 
Council was able to remove 34 applications from its housing waiting list.

Pack Page 43



National Fraud Initiative in Wales – Report 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2018 25

Most Welsh public-sector bodies participating in the NFI 
were proactive in reviewing the data matches but a small 
number of participants did not review the matches in a 
timely or effective manner
43 Auditors have reviewed the work undertaken by authorities to make 

the best use of the NFI matches and have found that the majority of 
participants have an effective approach for managing the NFI and 
reviewing data matches. However, there is still considerable variation 
in the level of commitment being shown by participants and, in a small 
number of cases, participants have failed to adequately review NFI 
matches in an effective or timely manner. 

44 The Auditor General’s auditors will work closely with participating 
organisations which did not engage effectively with NFI to seek to improve 
their understanding of and engagement with the exercise.

The Auditor General, with the support of the National 
Assembly for Wales is continuing to develop the National 
Fraud Initiative to ensure it remains effective
45 The NFI is an important tool available to public bodies in Wales to use 

as part of a wider fraud-prevention and detection strategy. The NFI has 
been a highly effective tool in the prevention and detection of fraud against 
the public sector for a number of years. Fraud, however, changes over 
time. New fraud trends emerge and fraudsters themselves change their 
practices to target areas which they perceive have the weakest controls 
to prevent and/or detect their fraudulent activities. The NFI must therefore 
adapt and develop if it is to remain effective. The NFI must respond to 
emerging trends and policy changes, and introduce new types of data 
matches in areas which are susceptible to fraud.

46 The Auditor General is committed to maintaining, developing and 
improving the NFI in the future through:

• increased focus on fraud prevention; 

• increasing the number of organisations in Wales participating in the NFI;

• extending the NFI into new areas which are susceptible to fraud; and

• ensuring that the current high standards of the NFI data security are 
maintained.

Pack Page 44



National Fraud Initiative in Wales – Report 1 April 2016 to 31 March 201826

47 In the latest exercise, the Auditor General has continued to provide 
participants with access without charge to a new NFI fraud prevention tool, 
‘AppCheck’. AppCheck is a point-of-application data-matching system 
that enables NFI participants to cross check information provided by 
applicants for benefits, goods or services against other datasets at the 
time the application is made. The resultant matches identify anomalies 
which could be due to fraud, enabling public bodies to investigate and 
resolve these anomalies in advance of decisions on applications being 
taken. Whilst some participants are already using this new tool well, it is 
not yet being used to its full potential. The Auditor General’s auditors will 
continue to work with participants to show how when AppCheck is used as 
part of a key control when assessing applications, it can stop fraudulent 
applications being approved, preventing overpayments and the need for 
costly fraud investigations.

48 In the latest exercise, five more public bodies in Wales participated in NFI 
on a voluntary basis. The Auditor General is keen for more organisations 
to participate in future exercises. 

49 The Auditor General is committed to supporting public bodies in their 
efforts to prevent and detect fraud by applying data-matching techniques 
into fraud risk areas not currently within NFI. During 2017-18, the Auditor 
General has been working in partnership with the Welsh Government, 
DWP, Cabinet Office and HMRC to develop pilot data matching exercises 
to help prevent and detect fraud in education and housing provision. The 
early results from these pilot exercises are proving very positive and the 
outcomes will be reported once the pilots have been fully evaluated.

50 Fundamental to the success of the NFI, is public confidence in the 
security of the data it holds. There are extremely robust controls in place 
to ensure data security and to minimise the risk of data being accessed 
inappropriately. Details of the security and governance arrangements in 
place for NFI are set out in Appendix 2. 

Pack Page 45



National Fraud Initiative in Wales – Report 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2018 27

51 In 2008, in accordance with Part 4A of the Public Audit (Wales) Act 2004, 
the Auditor General prepared a Code of Data Matching Practice (the 
Code). Following an extensive public consultation exercise, the Code was 
laid before the National Assembly and approved. The Code has statutory 
status and is designed to ensure that people’s information is protected and 
processed appropriately during data-matching exercises, in accordance 
with the Data Protection Act 1998 and best practice. The Auditor General 
will continue to keep the Code under review to ensure it is consistent with 
new legislation and best practice. In recognition of the recent changes 
in data protection legislation and the advancement in data-matching 
techniques, the Auditor General has publicly consulted on an updated 
Code. The finalised Code will be published shortly.

Pack Page 46



National Fraud Initiative in Wales – Report 1 April 2016 to 31 March 201828

Appendix 1 – How the NFI works

In 1996, the Audit Commission in England and Wales launched the NFI to help 
public bodies match claimant information across different service areas and 
geographical boundaries. The exercise was a success, and since then NFI has 
run biennially, introducing new participants and new modules for identifying 
fraud and overpayments in each new exercise. Whilst NFI is run as a UK-
wide initiative, it is administered in Wales by the Auditor General for Wales, in 
Scotland by Audit Scotland and in Northern Ireland by the Northern Ireland Audit 
Office. NFI was administered in England by the Audit Commission until 2015 
when responsibility transferred to the Cabinet Office.

The NFI has established itself as the UK’s premier public-sector fraud-detection 
exercise. Since 1996, the NFI has identified more than £35 million of fraud and 
overpayments in Wales, and nearly £1.7 billion across the UK. 

Welsh NFI participants in the NFI provide data relating to their financial 
systems to the Cabinet Office on behalf of the Auditor General. The information 
submitted is wide-ranging and includes data relating to housing benefits, 
student-loan recipients, payroll and pension payments. The data is uploaded 
to the NFI system which has been designed to match different sets of data 
for the purpose of identifying fraudulent or erroneous claims and payments. 
Where a match is found, it may indicate an inconsistency which requires further 
investigation; it is not in itself evidence of a fraud.

Participating organisations are provided with online reports containing the 
matches which relate to their organisation and they are responsible for 
analysing those matches. The participants must review the matches in an 
appropriate and proportionate way to enable them to eliminate co-incidental 
matches. They must use evidence from a range of other sources to undertake 
appropriate investigations to determine whether individual matches have arisen 
due to a fraudulent claim or payment. In many cases, matches arise because 
of errors in the data, and because the NFI has highlighted the issue, it allows 
participants to correct or update the data held in their records. 

The results of investigations are recorded by appropriate staff members. 
Where fraudulent payments or overpayments are identified, the value of those 
transactions is recorded and the information is provided to the Auditor General.

Datasets are transferred by participants to the NFI system using an electronic 
transfer process which encrypts data on upload. The data is transferred via a 
secure NFI website, and all matches are provided back to participants using 
the same tool. Access to the tool and NFI matches is controlled by password 
access, and strict controls exist to ensure access is provided to appropriate 
individuals. 

Auditors review the progress made by participants, and provide guidance and 
advice to organisations as required.

Pack Page 47



National Fraud Initiative in Wales – Report 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2018 29

Appendix 2 – NFI governance arrangements

Background

This appendix summarises the key legislation and controls governing the NFI 
data matching exercise.

Legislation

The NFI exercise is carried out under the data matching powers given to the 
Auditor General for Wales in the Public Audit (Wales) Act 2004.

The Public Audit (Wales) Act 2004 includes important data protection 
safeguards. These include a requirement for the Auditor General to prepare a 
Code of Data Matching Practice (the Code), and to consult with the Information 
Commissioner and others before publication. The code that was in place for the 
latest NFI exercise, the Code of Data Matching Practice 2008, was followed to 
ensure that the latest NFI exercise complied with:

• data protection requirements; and

• best practice in notifying individuals about using their information for the NFI. 

The Auditor General has recently updated the Code to reflect important data 
protection changes introduced by the General Data Protection Regulation 
(GDPR) (Regulation (EU) 2016/679) and the subsequent Data Protection Act 
2018. The updated Code will apply to the next NFI exercise.

The NFI web application

Bodies access the application online using passwords and encryption controls 
similar to internet banking. The secure website is the safest method of 
providing the data matches to bodies. The Cabinet Office, acting on behalf of 
the Auditor General for Wales, Audit Scotland and the Northern Ireland Audit 
Office, regularly reviews the application and implements changes to improve its 
functionality, ease of use, and security.

Interactive training is available to participating bodies and auditors through the 
web application to support guidance provided by the Cabinet Office and the 
Auditor General for Wales’ auditors.

Pack Page 48



National Fraud Initiative in Wales – Report 1 April 2016 to 31 March 201830

Security review and accreditation

The NFI system has gone through the Cabinet Office’s information assurance 
and risk management process. This means the system is HM Government-
accredited annually to store and process data. 

Any firm processing data for the Cabinet Office will do so under a contract 
in writing. This imposes requirements covering technical and organisational 
security standards. Under the contract the firm may only act on instructions 
from the Cabinet Office. The Cabinet Office, assisted by the Auditor General 
for Wales and the other UK public sector audit agencies, reserves the right to 
review the firm’s compliance with these standards at any time. The Cabinet 
Office also requires annual security testing, supplemented by additional tests as 
appropriate.

This accreditation involves demonstrating that the NFI is suitably secured and 
that information risks are managed to government standards.

All of these measures provide current and future NFI participants with 
assurances that data is processed according to rigorous government security 
standards.

Pack Page 49



National Fraud Initiative in Wales – Report 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2018 31
Pack Page 50



National Fraud Initiative in Wales – Report 1 April 2016 to 31 March 201832

Wales Audit Office

24 Cathedral Road

Cardiff CF11 9LJ

Tel: 029 2032 0500

Fax: 029 2032 0600

Textphone: 029 2032 0660

We welcome telephone calls in  
Welsh and English.

E-mail: info@audit.wales

Website: www.audit.wales

Swyddfa Archwilio Cymru

24 Heol y Gadeirlan

Caerdydd CF11 9LJ

Ffôn: 029 2032 0500

Ffacs: 029 2032 0600

Ffôn Testun: 029 2032 0660

Rydym yn croesawu galwadau  
ffôn yn Gymraeg a Saesneg.

E-bost: post@archwilio.cymru

Gwefan: www.archwilio.cymru
Pack Page 51



 

Concise Minutes - Public Accounts Committee 

Meeting Venue: 

Committee Room 3 - Senedd 

Meeting date: Monday, 5 November 

2018 

Meeting time: 15.21 - 17.13

This meeting can be viewed  

on Senedd TV at: 

http://senedd.tv/en/5038 

 
------ 

Attendance 

Category Names 

Assembly Members: 

Nick Ramsay AM (Chair) 

Mohammad Asghar (Oscar) AM 

Neil Hamilton AM 

Rhianon Passmore AM 

Adam Price AM 

Jenny Rathbone AM 

Witnesses: 

Tim Howard, Welsh Government 

Andrew Slade, Welsh Government 

Jason Thomas, Welsh Government 

Wales Audit Office: 
Adrian Crompton – Auditor General for Wales 

Mike Usher 

Committee Staff: 

Fay Bowen (Clerk) 

Claire Griffiths (Deputy Clerk) 

Katie Wyatt (Legal Adviser) 

 

Pack Page 58

Agenda Item 4

http://senedd.tv/


1 Introductions, apologies, substitutions and declarations of interest  

1.1 The Chair welcomed Members to the meeting.  

1.2 Apologies were received from Jack Sargeant AM.  

2 Paper(s) to note  

2.1 The papers were noted.  

2.1 Natural Resources Wales: Scrutiny of Annual Report and Accounts 2017-18 - 

Correspondence from Clare Pillman (17 October 2018)  

3 The Welsh Government’s relationship with Pinewood: Evidence session 

with the Welsh Government  

3.1 Members received evidence from Andrew Slade, Director General, Economy, Skills 

and Natural Resources; Jason Thomas, Director Culture, Sport and Tourism, and Tim 

Howard, Deputy Director of Property, Welsh Government as part of their inquiry into 

the Welsh Government’s relationship with Pinewood. 

3.2 Andrew Slade agreed to: 

 Send a note explaining the composition of the Media Investment Budget of £42m  

 Provide detailed figures of all revenue for Pinewood Studio Wales for the last 

financial year when the final position is known 

 Provide a timeframe for the proposed renovation of the Grade II listed farmhouse 

together with all costs incurred to date on maintaining the building and costs of 

proposed renovation 

4 Motion under Standing Order 17.42 to resolve to exclude the public 

from the meeting for the following business:  

4.1 The motion was agreed. 

5 The Welsh Government’s relationship with Pinewood: Consideration of 

the evidence received  

5.1 Members considered the evidence received. 

5.2 Members agreed to publish its findings in a report. 

Pack Page 59



6 Natural Resources Wales: Consideration of the draft Report  

6.1 Members revisited one area of the draft report and after consideration, the Clerks 

will reword and circulate a revised version by email for agreement.   

Pack Page 60



Cyfarwyddwr Cyffredinol Iechyd a Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol/ 
Prif Weithredwr GIG Cymru 
Grŵp Iechyd a Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol 

Director General Health and Social Services/ 
NHS Wales Chief Executive 
Health and Social Services Group 

Parc Cathays ● Cathays Park 
Caerdydd ● Cardiff 

CF10 3NQ 

Ffôn  ● Tel 

Andrew.Goodall@wales.gsi.gov.uk 

Gwefan ● website: www.wales.gov.uk 

Nick Ramsay AM 

Chair 

Public Accounts Committee 

National Assembly for Wales 

Cardiff Bay 

Cardiff 

CF99 1NA 

31 October 2018 

Dear Mr Ramsay, 

Implementation of the NHS Finance (Wales) Act 2014 

Thank you for your letter of 4 October. I am pleased that your letter acknowledges the 
progress that has been made in stabilising and improving financial sustainability in NHS 
Wales in recent years. I felt it would be helpful to respond in detail to your commentary, and 
I hope provide assurance on progress and a more sustainable outlook. While there remain a 
small number of organisations still in an overspending situation, most are now planning on 
the basis of being financially balanced in the current year and looking forward. 

I would like to highlight some of the key indicators supporting this assessment: 

 As I set out in my evidence paper, taking account of like for like adjustments, the overall
NHS deficit in 2017-18 was marginally lower than in 2016-17.

 We expect further improvement in the NHS position in 2018-19. In May, the Cabinet
Secretary for Health and Social Services announced an additional £27 million recurrent
funding for Hywel Dda UHB following the completion of the zero-based review, and we
have provided Cardiff and Vale UHB with an additional £10 million in support of their
plans. The current NHS forecast represents a material improvement from the 2017-18
outturn.

 Despite the NHS deficits that were incurred by individual organisations, the Welsh
Government’s health budget was balanced again at the end of last financial year.  The
budget has balanced overall in every financial year since the new NHS finance regime
was introduced in April 2014.  As a sign of increasing financial stability, the in-year
support from central Welsh Government reserves for NHS deficits reduced significantly
from £76 million in 2016-17 to £35.2 million in 2017-18. We are not anticipating requiring
any central funding in 2018-19 to support remaining deficits.

Y Pwyllgor Cyfrifon Cyhoeddus / Public Accounts Committee
PAC(5)-30-18 P2

Pack Page 61

Agenda Item 5

mailto:Simon.Dean@wales.gsi.gov.uk
../www.wales.gov.uk


 

 NHS organisations have collectively made over £1.5 billion worth of efficiency savings 
since the new organisations were established at the beginning of this decade. In the last 
financial year, over two thirds of these savings (71%) were found on a recurrent basis. 
This proportion is expected to be maintained in 2018-19.   
 

 There is also an increasing focus on the delivery of savings earlier in the financial year. 
In the current financial year 39% of savings plans have already been delivered at the 
mid-year stage, compared to 32% in 2017-18. 

 

 To ensure Welsh Government can respond with pace to NHS organisations in financial 
challenge, a Finance Delivery Unit has been established, hosted by Public Health Wales 
NHS Trust. The Unit now has a complement of 9 staff, including the transfer in of 4 staff 
leading the costing and business intelligence process in NHS Wales. As well as 
providing a challenge and support role, particularly for the organisations in escalation, 
the Unit is leading the development of an Efficiency Framework for NHS organisations 
and is playing a key supporting role in driving forward the Value-based healthcare 
agenda.   

 
Investment in Services 
The evidence you received from some Health Boards that they had limited investment to 
maintain financial balance contrasts significantly with our assessment of the support we are 
providing to NHS organisations: 
 

 In the current year, we have already provided an additional £173 million funding to health 
boards to meet core inflationary costs and improve performance, and the Cabinet 
Secretary has recently announced a further £20 million early support for winter delivery 
plans. We will also shortly be allocating an additional £80 million to meet the costs of the 
pay awards recently announced for NHS staff. This totals a package of new investment 
of £273 million in the current year.   

 

 Our draft spending plans for 2019-20 continue to protect frontline services with an extra 
£220m confirmed increase in funding for 2019-20. In addition, Welsh Government has 
announced an additional £287 million in the draft budget for health and social services, to 
meet the costs of NHS pay awards and take forward implementation of A Healthier 
Wales. 
 

 The Cabinet Secretary has also recently announced the first allocations from the £100 
million Transformation Fund to invest in the development and implementation of new 
models of care endorsed by Regional Partnership Boards.  

 

 This will bring our total additional investment in health and social care in Wales during 
this government to over a billion pounds by March 2020. 

 

Capacity and Capability 
We have provided support to strengthen capacity and capability to a number of Health 
Boards who are in escalation, totalling over £7.4 million over the last two financial years. 
This includes additional operational staff, planning capacity, supporting Organisational 
Development programmes and funding external support.  
 
In addition, officials from the Health and Social Care Group have provided their expertise to 
help organisations develop their delivery plans, as has the Delivery Unit. This support 

Pack Page 62



includes data analysis, testing plans and acting as a “critical friend”. We have been working 
with the NHS on developing an academic programme to strengthen planning skills in the 
NHS. We have established a Planning Programme for Learning to enhance planning skills 
and capacity across all NHS organisations. The programme aims to raise the profile and 
reputation of planning as a profession and to develop a talent pipeline. The Programme 
consists of a range of formal and informal learning and development opportunities. These 
include: well-established bi-annual All Wales Learning Events; a series of master classes, 
which focus on capacity and demand planning; a conference on long-term planning to be 
held next spring. Tendering is underway for an academic partner to design and deliver a 
post-graduate diploma in healthcare planning. The diploma will see up to 125 students 
undertake the course over a 5 year period.  
 
Some limited use of skills from more successful organisations has been deployed to support 
others organisations as they address the challenges they face. This support is a key 
element of our collegiate ethos in NHS Wales. This internal consultancy approach supports 
the transfer of skills and experience across the NHS in Wales, and provides benefits in 
terms of skills development which benefit the NHS as a whole. We believe that the 
experience helps both the individual and their organisation grow and develop, as well as 
being very valuable to the organisation they are helping. However, this takes place on a 
limited basis. 
 
The Parliamentary Review highlighted the requirement to increase the ability of the system 
to transform, and the NHS Executive function committed in A Healthier Wales will have this 
as a key responsibility. Bringing together capacity already in the system, for example the 
NHS Collaborative and the NHS Delivery Unit, provides opportunities to focus effort on key 
priority areas and support both delivery and performance improvement with the aim of 
transforming the system. 
 
Funding Formula 

I do acknowledge that Phase 2 of the Resource Allocation Review has not progressed as 
quickly as Welsh Government and NHS Wales would have wanted.  A Technical Advisory 
Group, jointly chaired by the Chief Medical Officer and the Health and Social Services 
Group Director of Finance, has been formed to take forward the Phase 2 of the Resource 
Allocation Review.  Membership of the group also includes a Chair and Director of Finance 
representing the NHS as well as a University health economist. 
 
The Group have reviewed existing formulas used in other countries and noted a number of 
common components, such as population, demography (Age/Sex) and needs (including 
unmet needs), and some non-universal components such as rurality, ethnicity and market 
forces factor.  The Group have endorsed and are working to a twin track approach of testing 
an alternative formula and commissioning independent advice on formula development, as 
follows: 
 

 The initial work has been to populate and test at a high level the formula used by the 
NHS in Scotland. This is a modular transparent formula where each individual 
component, for example age/sex or needs, can be tested and validated.  The latest 
Welsh population and other measures have been used within the testing, including the 
Health Foundation acute services age/sex details from their 2016 report “The path to 
sustainability”. The initial testing indicates that, at a high level, the formula works for 
Wales and further testing on a more granular level of each component is being 
undertaken.   
 

Pack Page 63



 Subject to successful evaluation, the Group will consider whether this formula is robust 
enough to use initially to equitably distribute future additional discretionary allocations 
between health boards.  The Group will consider this against whether to continue to use 
the old formula, the “Townsend” direct needs formula, noting that the old formula, to 
distribute discretionary growth, has not been updated since 2014 following the demise of 
the Welsh Health Survey in 2015, a key needs measure in the old formula.   

 
It should be noted that the formula has been used as a distributive formula to equitably 
allocate share of the growth funding to Local Health Boards rather than determining the 
distribution of total funding.  While some Local Health Boards have indicated that the current 
formula may disadvantage them, the Health Boards all recognise the formula is only applied 
on the growth funding not on the totality of funding.  Therefore whether they are advantaged 
or disadvantaged is at the margin on the share of discretionary growth.   
 
Since the Nuffield Trust (2014) and Health Foundation (2016) reports the Welsh 
Government has made continued significant additional investment into the health service.  
This additional investment recognises the overall demographic and other pressures faced 
by Local Health Boards. The extant policy accepted by Welsh Government and National 
Assembly for Wales was in line with the recommendation in the original Professor 
Townsend report Targeting Poor Health in 2001 that: “the transition to new target shares 
should be achieved through redistributing the annual growth in NHS resources. Thus no 
area will receive less than their current level of resources and those areas which are 
furthest from their target share will receive the highest rate of growth.” 
 
In line with policy since direct needs formula was first used in 2003, any movement towards 
target formula share would be achieved over time depending on the level of discretionary 
growth available for equalisation. Local Health Board allocations are, therefore, primarily 
based on historical allocations plus additions over time, including formula growth share and 
specific allocations, not on a formula calculated allocation.   
 
Following the full development, testing and engagement on the new formula, the 
implementation options will need to be considered.  These implementation options will 
range from the current policy, that any movement towards target formula share would be 
achieved over time depending on the level discretionary growth available for equalisation, to 
a policy of directly distributing total funding by formula. 
 
Escalation  
Escalation arrangements have been effective in focussing action in organisations which 
face significant challenges. The arrangements are kept under continuous review, including 
seeking the views of both HIW and the WAO as key partners in the tripartite discussions. 
 
These arrangements have been very successful in supporting WAST on its improvement 
journey. In 2014 WAST was escalated to enhanced monitoring following concerns about 
response time performance. Work with WAST under the escalation framework was 
instrumental in allowing the organisation to de-escalate to normal monitoring arrangements 
in 2016.  
 
Improvements are being seen in Cardiff and Vale and Abertawe Bro Morgannwg University 
Health Boards, driven by escalation support and challenge. In respect of Hywel Dda, the 
need for a zero based finance review was identified through the targeted intervention, with 
the result that Welsh Government has recognised a number of pressures unique to that 
organisation and provided recurring funding which is a significant contribution towards 
achieving sustainability. The Tripartite process allows consideration of organisations that Pack Page 64



could be de-escalated noting improvement, and I expect that to be reviewed in the next 
meeting.  
 
Progress has been harder to achieve in Betsi Cadwaladr. I note the comments of the 
Committee on the significant difficulties that remain. In July 2018 Welsh Government agreed 
a further £6.8 million investment under special measures arrangements to strengthen 
governance and accountability through joint working with clinicians and partners to deliver 
substantial improvements in planned and unscheduled care, across all acute specialties.  
 
The funding will increase the health board’s capacity and capability in the following areas:  

 £4.6m (£2.3m per annum) will be used to strengthen delivery, planning and service 
improvement capacity in the operational secondary care structure. 

 £1.7m (£892,000 in 2018/19 and £826,000 in 2019/20) will support the turnaround 
process by strengthening programme management and analytical demand capability. 

 £0.5m will increase capacity within the mental health and learning disabilities division by 
extending the pilot project ‘Right Care and Repatriation Programme’. This will ensure 
patients receive the care they need through the correct care package, in the right 
environment and that timely transfer or discharge occurs when clinically appropriate to 
do so.  

 
The new Chair, Mark Polin started in post in September and is already bringing clear 
direction and leadership for improvement including pursuing improved governance and 
responses that focuses on overcoming problems and challenges the Health Board faces.  
 
I can assure you that we are identifying and logging learning lessons on escalation and 
intervention arrangements, including our role to inform our thinking and future plans. These 
include, for example the need to recognise the significant leadership and cultural challenges 
that have not been tackled successfully previously in organisations, ensure Welsh 
Government capacity and capability to engage and gear up to support the arrangements on 
top of other demands and the danger of holding a health board under escalation 
arrangements to a higher standard than the rest of NHS Wales before issues can be de-
escalated. The learning from the BCU experience has, I believe, also supported other 
organisations at lower levels of escalation to improve performance.  
 
Welsh Government is clear that it has a system leadership role in driving improved 
performance, within the governance arrangements of NHS Wales. We expect NHS 
organisations to deliver their responsibilities, with guidance, constructive challenge and 
support from Welsh Government where required. The early identification of signs that an 
organisation is experiencing difficulties is critical in allowing intervention at an early stage, 
so that we can work with organisations to bring about improvements before the position 
deteriorates. This is not always a quick progress, and it would be wrong to believe that often 
significant challenges can always be addressed in the short term. Building sustainability 
through appropriate intervention, both supportive and challenging, requires sufficient time if 
it is to be fully embedded into the culture of an organisation. 
 
The learning from operation of the escalation framework has, for example, informed the 
proposals for an NHS Executive set out in A Healthier Wales. This will rebalance the 
relationship between Welsh Government and the NHS, and provide strengthened capacity 
to work with challenged organisations to secure improvements. Reflection on the actions 
taken with challenged organisations is also informing the development of our operating 
framework, including how we incentivise improvements, the sanctions available to us, and 
how to deploy the right balance between the two. 
 Pack Page 65



A formal review of the escalation framework will be undertaken alongside the establishment 
of the NHS Executive to ensure that the arrangements fit with the wider organisational and 
accountability landscape as we deliver A Healthier Wales. 

 
Long Term Planning 

Welsh Government expects all organisations to have strategies which set out their 
ambitions for the long term. This should include clinical strategies in the broadest sense of 
the term, together with key enabling strategies addressing for example workforce 
requirements or their estates strategy. IMTPs should be developed within the context of 
these long term strategies, and set out the steps the organisation will take over the next 
three years in pursuit of its strategic goals. 
 
A three-year timescale gives the NHS both sufficient certainty and appropriate flexibility 
within which to plan. This timeframe avoids a more constraining one-year focus, and 
presents opportunities to use financial flexibilities to support transformation and change over 
a longer period. Most organisations have demonstrated their ability to operate within this 
context, and as indicated earlier we can see positive signs that at least two of the more 
challenged organisations are coming closer to a sustainable position. Three years provides 
the right timeframe to support a more strategic approach to service decisions. Organisations 
already make many decisions which have an impact well beyond a three year period, for 
example recruiting new staff, initiating service developments or investing in their 
infrastructure such as estates or digital systems. 
 
Many innovations are about making better use of resources already within the system, for 
example changing models of delivering outpatient services. Others are funded by additional 
allocations from Welsh Government and do not require costs to be recouped. NHS 
organisations have many opportunities to innovate in ways which do not incur additional 
costs. 
 
I hope the detail in my letter provides you with the additional assurance you require.  
 
Yours sincerely 
 

 
Dr Andrew Goodall 

 
  

Pack Page 66


	Agenda
	1 Community Safety in Wales: Technical Briefing
	2 Auditor General for Wales Report: National Fraud Initiative 2016-18
	PAC(5)-30-18 P1 - AGW Report National Fraud Initiative 2016-18
	Foreword
	Summary
	The latest National Fraud Initiative has made a significant contribution to tackling fraud against Welsh public bodies
	The latest biennial NFI exercise in Wales has detected and prevented £5.4 million in fraud and overpayments
	NFI matching has helped to identify cases of fraud and overpayments in a wide range of areas 
	NFI has been successful in identifying housing-benefit fraud and overpayments
	NFI matching between council tax single-persons-discounts data and the electoral register has achieved savings to the public purse of £1.5 million
	A new NFI data match between claimants receiving Council Tax Reduction and other NFI datasets identified 54 cases where discount was being overclaimed
	NFI matching of creditor-payment data has helped to identify 61 cases of creditor overpayments
	Review of the NFI matches has led to 1,690 blue badges and 28,584 concessionary travel passes being cancelled
	The NFI data matches of local-authority payments for residential care have identified a small number of high value cases where local authorities have been charged for residential care costs after the death of a resident
	A new NFI data match designed to prevent housing waiting list fraud was successful and has resulted in 52 applicants ineligible to be housed being removed from housing waiting lists
	Most Welsh public-sector bodies participating in the NFI were proactive in reviewing the data matches but a small number of participants did not review the matches in a timely or effective manner
	The Auditor General, with the support of the National Assembly for Wales is continuing to develop the National Fraud Initiative to ensure it remains effective

	Appendix 1 – How the NFI works
	Appendix 2 – NFI governance arrangements


	4 Paper(s) to note
	5 Implementation of the NHS Finance (Wales) Act 2014: Letter from the Welsh Government (31 October 2018)

